MINING THE AMERICAN WEST

A Bibliographical Guide to Printed Materials on American Mining Frontiers in the British Library

by

DAVID J. WHITTAKER FULBRIGHT FELLOW ECCLES CENTRE FOR AMERICAN STUDIES BRITISH LIBRARY

AUGUST 1994

PREFACE

There are few geographical regions in the history of the United States that lack a mining frontier. Almost from its discovery, the image of America as a land of golden wealth has presented a powerful image to the world. America's extensive economic resources have led some historians to suggest that the abundance of the land and its use by her citizens and governments is a key factor in shaping the national character. From different angles both Frederick Jackson Turner's "The Significance of the Frontier in American History" and David M. Potter's *People of Plenty* [1954] (Ac.2691.dw(26) show the key roles of mineral wealth in the American experience.

There are many reasons why students of American history cannot ignore the mining frontiers. The discovery of precious metals hurried the westward movement of the nation. The discovery of gold in California in January 1848 and the Gold Rush the next year is only the most prominent example. The early history of many western states, especially Nevada, Colorado, Idaho, Arizona, Montana, the Dakotas and Alaska are intimately tied up with mining activities. These were linked to politics and the issues of statehood which were in turn, welded to the growth of American nationalism, encouraging as they did the development of regional and national transportation and communication networks. The international flavour of the mining communities also warrants closer examination for students of comparative history.

American land and water laws are other examples of continuing connections to western mining history. The urban frontier reflecting the boom and bust cycles of mining communities, remain a factor in American economic history. The hundreds of ghost towns in the West are the most silent reminders of this aspect of mining history.

The investment of European capital in American mining provides another reason for taking a closer look at this area. American labor history is particularly tied into mining history. Additionally, the importance of the science of mining technology, much of which was developed in the American West, provides an important chapter in the history of technology. This includes the history of exploration and the growth of geological knowledge. Other dimensions are less positive. The environmental impact has been significant and remained for later generations to address. And the effects of mining rushes on the original or reserved homes of Native Americans was devastating. Then too, the few who got rich compared with the loss and destruction of so many others, requires continuing research and evaluation.

Yet there is little doubt about the great impact that the discovery, extraction and use of mineral wealth had in American history. While we tend to think of gold and silver, we must also include coal, oil, copper, gas and other extractive minerals.

This bibliography provides a basic guide to the printed materials on this important topic in American History as reflected in the holdings of the British Library. It does not claim to be comprehensive, but it will provide the serious student with a window to the literature on Western American mining history. Included is a short bibliography of the larger topic of world mining frontiers.

David J. Whittaker

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. General Histories and Guides
- 2. California
- 3. Nevada
- 4. Colorado
- 5. Northwest
- 6. Southwest
- 7. Black Hills
- 8. Alaska
- 9. Comparative Mining Frontiers
 - a. General Works
 - b. Australia/New Zealand
 - c. South America and Mexico
 - d. Russia
 - e. South Africa
 - f. India

GENERAL HISTORIES AND GUIDES

ATHEARN, Frederic J., "Black Diamonds: A History of Federal Coal Policy in the Western United States, 1862-1981," *Journal of the West* 21 (October 1982):44-50. (P.701/1257)

ATHERTON, Lewis, "The Mining Promoter in the Trans-Mississippi West," *Western Historical Quarterly* 1 (January 1970):35-50. (P.701/404)

-----, "Structure and Balance in Western Mining History," *Huntington Library Quarterly* 30 (November 1966):55-84. (P.P.6491.hhb.)

BATEMAN, Alan M., *Economic Mineral Deposits*, 2nd. ed. (New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1950). (07107.w.12)

BROWN, Ronald C., *Hard-Rock Miners: The Intermountain West*, 1860-1920 (College Station, TX: Texas A&M University Press, 1979). (X.800/28818)

CLARK, John G., *Energy and the Federal Government: Fossil Fuel Policies*, 1900-1946 (Urbana, IL: University of Illinois Press, 1987).

CLELAND, Robert Glass, A History of Phelps Dodge, 1834-1950 (New York: Knopf, 1952).

CRANE, Walter R., Gold and Silver. *Comprising an Economic History of Mining in_the United States, the Geographical and Geological Occurrence of the Precious_Metals.* . . *Methods of Mining.* . . . (New York: John Wiley and Sons, 1908). (07107.i.43)

------, Index of Mining Engineering Literature. Comprising an Index of Mining, Metallurgical, Civil, Mechanical, Electrical and Chemical Engineering Subjects as Relating to Mining Engineering, 2 Vols. (New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1909, 1912). (011907.ee.19)

CURLE, James Herbert, *The Gold Mines of the World. Written After an Inspection of Nearly Five Hundred Mines in Transvall, Rhodesia, West Australia, Victoria, New South Wales, Queensland, Tasmania, New Zealand, India, Malay Peninsula, Siberia, United States, Alaska, Klondyke, British Columbia, Mexico, Peru, Brazil, Sudan, Hungary, Bohemia, and Wales,* 3rd ed., Revised & Expanded (London: George Routledge and Sons, 1905). (7107.cc.17) [1st ed., 1899 (7107.c.4)] [2nd ed., 1902 (7108.ee.37)]

DRAGO, Harry Sinclair, Lost Bonanzas: Tales of the Legendary Lost Mines of the American West (New York: Dodd, Mead & Co., 1966).

DWYER, Richard A. and Lingenfelter, Richard E., *Lying on the Eastern Slope: James Townsend's Comic Journalism on the Mining Frontier* (Miami, FL: University Presses of Florida, 1984). (YA.1988.b.6426)

EMMONS, Samuel F. and Becker, George F., *Statistics and Technology of the Precious Metals* (Clarence King, Director of Special Volume, Tenth Census, Vol. 13, 1893, Washington DC). (A.S.70[10]/11)

FENNEMAN, Nevin M., *Physiography of Western United States* (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1931). (10005.dd.25)

GLASSCOCK, Carl B., *The Big Bonanza: The Story of the Cowstock Lode*. (Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1931). (010409.h.52)

-----, Gold in Them Hills. The Story of the West's Last Wild Mining Days (Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill Co., 1932). (010410.eee.7)

GARDNER, Eugene D., Johnson, C. H. and Butler, Bert S., *Copper Mining in North America* (Washington: U.S. Bureau of Mines, *Bulletin*, No. 405, 1938). (A.S.229)

GIDDENS, Paul H., "One Hundred Years of Petroleum History," *Arizona and the West* 4 (Summer 1962):127-44. (P.710/1302)

GREEN, Lewis, *The Gold Hustlers* (Anchorage, AK: Northwest Publishing Co., 1977). (X.319/20363 Woolwich)

GREEVER, William S., *The Bonanza West: The Story of the Mining Rushes*, 1848-1900 (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1963). (X.800/1546)

HAGUE, James Duncan, *Mining Industry*, *With Geological Contributions by C. King* (1870), Volume III of Clarence King's *United States Geological Exploration of the Fortieth Parallel* (7 Vols. plus atlas, 1870-1880). (A.S.635)

HILL, James M., *The Mining Districts of the Western United States* (U.S.A. Geological Survey, *Bulletin*, No. 507, Washington, D.C., 1912). (A.S.212/2)

-----, Some Mining Districts in Northeastern California and Northwestern Nevada, (U.S.A. Geological Survey, Bulletin, No. 594, Washington, D.C., 1915). (A.S. 212/2)

-----, Notes On Some Mining Districts in Eastern Nevada, U.S.A. Geological Survey, Bulletin, No. 648 (Washington, D.C., 1916). (A.S.212/2)

HITTELL, John S., *Mining in the Pacific States of North America* (New York, 1862). (7105.aa.28)

JACKSON, W. Turrentine, *The Enterprising Scot: Investors in the American West After* 1873 (Edinburgh, Scotland: Edinburgh University Press, 1968). (W.P.5688.e/22)

JORALEMON, Iva B., Copper, 2nd. ed. (Berkeley, CA: Howell-North, 1973).

-----, *Romantic Copper: Its Lure & Lore* (New York: D. Appleton Century, 1934). (08108.aa.25)

LARSON, Henrietta M. and Kenneth Wiggins Porter, *History of Humble Oil and Refining Company: A Study in Industrial Growth* (New York: Harper Bros., 1959). (8249.d.26)

LEWIS, Marvin, ed., *The Mining Frontier: Contemporary Accounts From the American West in the Nineteenth Century* (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1967). (X.800/2402)

LINGENFELTER, Richard E., The Hardrock Miners: A History of the Mining Labour Movement in the American West, 1863-1893 (Berkeley, CA: , 1974).

LINDGREN, Waldemar, *Mineral Deposits*, 4th. ed. (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1933). (2249.d.16)

MCCAGUE, James, Moguls and Iron Men (New York, 1964).

MALONE, Michael P., "The Collapse of Western Metal Mining: An Historical Epitaph," *Pacific Historical Review* 55 (August 1986):455-64. (Ac.8504.c)

MARCOSSON, Isaac F. *Metal Magic: The Story of the American Smelting and Refining Company* (New York: Farrar, Straus and Co., 1949).

-----, Anaconda (New York: Dodd, Mead & Co., 1957).

The Mining and Scientific Press, (1860-1922). Trade journal published in San Francisco, CA. [Important source for American mining history].

MUNN, Robert F., *The Coal Industry in America: A Bibliography and Guide to Studies* (Morgantown, VA: West Virginia University Library, 1965). (27590.d.3)

NASH, Gerald D., U.S. Oil Policy, 1890-1964: Business and Government in Twentieth Century America (Pittsburgh, PA: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1968). (X.520/3464)

-----, "Oil in the West: Reflections on the Historiography of an Unexplored Field," *Pacific Historical Review* 39 (May 1970):193-204). (Ac.8504.c)

NAVIN, Thomas R., *Copper Mining and Management* (Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona Press, 1978).

NICKLES, John Milton. *Geologic Literature on North America*, 1785-1918 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Geological Survey, *Bulletin*, Nos. 746, 747, 2 Vols. 1922, 1924). [Additional bibliographies and indices were issued in the *Bulletin*: See Nos. 823 (1931), 937 (1944), 1049 (1957) and annual volumes since 1957]. (A.S.212/2)

PAUL, Rodman W., *Mining Frontiers of the Far West, 1848-1880*. (New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1963). [Outstanding survey with extensive bibliography]. (X.808/3742)

PETERSON, Richard H., *The Bonanza Kings; The Social Origins and Business Behaviour of Western Mining Entrepreneurs, 1870-1900* (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska, 1977). (X.529/31935)

-----, Bonanza Rich: Lifestyles of the Western Mining Entrepreneurs (Moscow, ID: University of Idaho Press, 1991). (YA.1993.b.694)

PROBERT, Thomas, Lost Mines and Buried Treasures of the West: Bibliography and Place Names--From Kansas to California, Oregon, Washington, and Mexico (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1977). (X.802/10514)

RUNDELL, Jr., Walter, "Centennial Bibliography: Annotated Selections on the History of the Petroleum Industry in the United States," *Business History Review* 32 (Fall 1959):429-47. (P.P.1423.xbz)

QUIETT, Glen Chesney, Pay Dirt: A Panorama of American Gold Rushes (New York: D. Appleton-Century, 1936). (20030.b.32)

RICKARD, Thomas A., *A History of American Mining*, American Institute of Mining Engineers Series (New York: McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1932). (Ac.3238.g/2(3))

-----, *Interviews With Mining Engineers* [Reprinted from "The Mining and Scientific Press"] (San Francisco, CA: Mining and Scientific Press, 1922). (07108.aaa.17)

-----, *The Romance of Mining* (Toronto, Canada: Macmillan Co. of Canada, 1945). (07107.v.24)

-----, Man and Metals. A History of Mining in Relation to the Development of Civilization, 2 Vols. (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1932). (07109.aaa.20)

RISTER, Carl Coke, *Oil! Titan of the Southwest* (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1957). (X.311/1169)

ROME, John, *The Hard-Rock Men: Cornish Immigrants and the North American Mining Frontier* (Liverpool, UK: Liverpool University Press, 1974). (X.320/4422)

RUSSEL, Paul L., *History of Western Oil Shale* (East Brunswick, NJ: Center for Professional Management, 1980).

SEARS, Marian V., *Mining Stock Exchanges*, 1860-1930: An Historical Survey (Missoula, MT: University of Montana Press, 1973).

SHINN, Charles H., *Land Laws of Mining Districts* (Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Studies in Sciences, Vol. 2, 1984). (Ac.2689)

------, *Mining Camps: A Study in American Frontier Government* (1885; New York: Knopf, Introduction by Joseph Henry Jackson, 1948). (6625.aaa.5) [1965 ed., Introduction by Rodman W Paul. (X.708/1591)]

SMITH, Duane A., *Rocky Mountain Mining Camps. The Urban Frontier* (Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press, 1967). (X.809/4781)

SPENCE, Clark C., *British Investments and the American Mining Frontier*, 1860-1901 (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press for the American Historical Association, 1958). (8220.f.10)

-----, *Mining Engineers and the American West: The Lace-boot Brigade, 1849-1933* (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1970). (Ac.2692.ma/32 [vol.22])

-----, "The Golden Age of Dredging: The Development of an Industry and Its Environmental Impact," *Western Historical Quarterly* 11 (October 1980):401-14. (P.701/404)

-----, "Western Mining," in *Historians and the American West*, edited by Michael P. Malone, (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press, 1983), pp. 96-122. (X.800/37290)

SWANSON, Edward B., A Century of Oil and Gas in Books: A Descriptive Bibliography (New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1960). (X.620/8556)

TODD, Arthur C., The Cornish Miner in America. The Contribution to the Mining History of the United States by Emigrant Cornish Miners--The Men Called Cousin Jacks (Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clark, 1967). (X.319/2785)

TRIMBLE, William J., The Mining Advance into the Inland Empire: A Comparative Study of the Beginnings of the Mining Industry in Idaho and Montana, Eastern Washington and Oregon, and the Southern Interior of British Columbia; and of Institutions and Laws Based

Upon that Industry University of Wisconsin, *Bulletin*, No. 638, History Series, Vol. III, No.2, (Madison, WI, 1914). [in cataloguing]

TYNER, Wallace E. and Kalton, Robert J., Western Coal: Promise or Problem (Lexington, MA: Lexington Books, 1978).

VAN GELDER, Arthur P. and Schlatter, Hugh, *History of the Explosives Industry in America* (New York: Columbia University Press, 1927). (08245.f.68)

WATKINS, T.A., Gold and Silver in the West: The Illustrated History of an American Dream (Palo Alto, CA: American West Publishing Co., 1971).

WEST, Elliott, *The Saloon on the Rocky Mountain Mining Frontier* (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press, 1979). (X.989/88414)

WHITE, Gerald T., Formative Years in the Far West: A History of the Standard Oil Company of California and Predecessors Through 1919 (New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts, 1962). (X.510/829)

WILKINS, Thurman, Clarence King (New York: Macmillan, 1958). (10892.pp.10)

WILLIAMSON, Harold Francis, *The American Petroleum Industry*, 2 Vols. (Evanston, IL: Northwestern University Press, 1959, 1963). Vol. 1: *The Age of Illumination*, 1859-1899. (8292.bb.3) Vol. 2: *The Age of Energy*, 1899-1959. (X.510/2184)

WILLIAMSON, Harold F. and Myers, Kenneth A., *Designed for Digging: The First 75 Years of Bucyrus-Erie Company* (Evanston, IL: Northwestern University Press, 1955).

WILLIS, Thomas Lee, *Cool Fields of Grand Mesa and West Elk Mountains, Colorado* (Washington, D.C., U.S.A. Geological Survey, *Bulletin*, No. 510, 1912). (A.S.212/2)

WOLLE, Muriel S., *The Bonanza Trail: Ghost Towns and Mining Camps of the West* (Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press, 1960). (10293.k.7)

WOODARD, Bruce A., *Diamonds in the Salt* (Boulder, NV: Pruett, 1967). (X.200/5308)

WRIGHT, James E., *The Galena Lead District: Federal Policy and Practice*, 1824-1847 (Madison, WI: State Historical Society of Wisconsin for the Department of History, University of Wisconsin, 1966). (X.320/2869)

WYMAN, Mark, Hard Rock Epic: Western Miners and the Industrial Revolution, 1860-1910 (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1979). (X.809/44988) YOUNG, Otis E., Black Powder and Hard Steel: Miners and Machines on the Old Western Frontier (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1976). (X.629/12775 Woolwich)

-----, Western Mining: An Informal Account of Precious Metals Prospecting, Placering, Lode Mining and Milling on the American Frontier From Spanish Times to 1893 (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1970).

CALIFORNIA

BANCROFT, Hubert Howe, *Works* (39 Volumes). [6 volumes on California history]. (San Francisco, CA: A.L. Bancroft Co., 1888). (012296.cc. and d)

-----, *Popular Tribunals*, 2 Vols. (San Francisco, CA: A. H. Bancroft Co., 1887). (012296.cc. and d.)

BECKER, George F., *Geology of the Quicksilver Deposits of the Pacific Slope* (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Geological Survey, *Monographs*, No. 13, 1888). (A.S.209/5)

-----, Atlas, 1887. Folio (Maps 15.e.15)

BIEBER, Ralph P., ed., *Southern Trails to California in 1849* (Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clark, 1937).

BORTHWICK, J.D., *Three Years in California...With Eight Illustrations by the Author* (Edinburgh, Scotland: W. Blackwood & Sons, 1857). (10411.g.2)

BUFFUM, E. Gould, Six Months in the Gold Mines: From A Journal of Three Years' Residence in Upper and Lower California, 1847-1848-1849 (Philadelphia, PA: Lea and Blanchard, 1850). (10410.c.34) 1959 ed., edited by Oscar Lewis, London: Folio Society. (10110.h.34)

California and its Gold Mines: Being a Series of Recent Communications. . . Upon the Present Condition and Future Prospects of Quartz Mining [by Thomas Allsop], R. Allson, ed., (London: Groombridge and Sons, 1853). (10411.b.32)

CARSON, James H., *Recollections of the California Mines* (Stockton, CA: 1852). Reprinted as *Life in California* (Tarrytown, CA: 1931), *Magazine of History*, Extra Number 164. (P.P.3437.bab)

CAUGHEY, John W., *Gold is the Cornerstone* (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1948). (W.P.14208/1) Reissued in 1975 as *The California Gold Rush* (X.319/16896 Woolwich)

CLAPPE, Louise A. K., [Dame Shirley, pseud]. *The Shirley Letters From the California Mines*, *1851-1852* by Carl I. Wheat (New York: 1949). (10923.dd.7)

CLARK, Thomas D., ed., *Off at Sunrise: The Overland Journal of Charles Glass Gray* (San Marino, CA: 1976). (X.800/26570)

COLTON, Walter, *Three Years in California* (New York: A.S. Barnes & Co., 1850). (10410.b.6) 1949 edition, edited by Marguerite Eyer Wilbur, Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press. (10414.e.8)

CRONISE, Titus F., *The Natural Wealth of California, Comprising Early History, Geography, Topography, . . . Mines and Mining Processes* (San Francisco, CA: H.H. Bancroft & Co., 1868). (10408.m.21)

Description of Oregon and California Embracing an Account of the Gold Regions; To Which is Added an Appendix, Containing Descriptions of Various Kinds of Gold, and Methods of Testing its Genuiness. With a Large and Accurate Map of Oregon and California (Philadelphia, PA: Thomas Cowperthwaite & Co., 1849). (910408.a.1)

DILLON, Richard, *Exploring the Mother Lode Country*, (Pasadena, CA: Ward Ritchie Press, 1974). (X.708/47756)

-----, Fool's Gold: A Biography of John Sutter (New York: 1967).

-----, Iron Men: California's Industrial Pioneers; Peter, James and Michael Donahue (Point Richmond, CA: Candela Press, 1984). (YA.1990.b.836)

-----, *Texas Argonauts: Isaac H. Duva and the California Gold Rush* (San Francisco, CA: Book Club of California, 1987). (LB.31.c.149)

EATON, Hebert, The Overland Trail to California in 1852 (New York: , 1974).

FOURGEAUD, Victor. *Prospects of California* (San Francisco, CA: , 1942). [Study of the first news reports of the discovery of gold]

GAY, Theressa, James W. Marshall: The Discoverer of California Gold (Georgetown, CA: Talisman Press, 1967). (X.320/2739)

GUDDE, Erwin, G., Bigler's Chronicle of the West. The Conquest of California, Discovery of Gold, and Mormon Settlement as Reflected in Henry William Bigler's Diaries (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1962). [Best contemporary account of the discovery of gold in California in January 1848] (10713.n.24)

HAFEN, LeRoy, R. and Hafen, Ann W., eds., *Journals of Forty-Niners, Salt Lake to Los Angeles* (Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clark, 1954). (10414.dd.16/2)

HITTELL, John S., *The Resources of California, Comprising the Society, Climate, Salubrity, Commerce and Industry of the State,* 6th edition (San Francisco, CA: , 1874) (10413.bbb.29)

------, The Commerce and Industries of the Pacific Coast of North America; Comprising the Rise, Progress, Products, Present Condition. . . . (San Francisco, CA: A.L. Bancroft & Co., 1882). (8248.K.5)

HOLLIDAY, J.S., *The World Rushed In: The California Gold Rush Experience* (London: Gollanes, 1983). (X.800/35347)

HOWE, Octavius T., Argonauts of '49: History and Adventures of the Emigrant Companies from Massachusetts, 1849-1850 (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press 1923). (9616.ee.3)

JACKSON, Donald D., *Gold Dust: The California Gold Rush and the Forty-niners* (London: Allen and Unwin, 1980). (X.800/29319)

JACKSON, W. Turrentine, ed., *Twenty Years on the Pacific Slope: Letters of Henry Eno*, 1848-1871 (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1965). (Ac. 2692.ma/32)

JENKINS, Olaf. P., *Geologic Guidebook Along Highway 49--Sierra Gold Belt, The Mother Lode Country,* Centennial Edition (San Francisco, CA: California State Division of Mines "Bulletin" No.141, 1948). [Excellent site guide]

------, Mineral Commodities of California. Geologic Occurance, Economic Development, and Utilization of the States' Mineral Resources (San Francisco, CA: California Department of Natural Resources Divisions of Mines, 1950). (A.S.C.35/12)

KELLEY, Robert L., Gold vs. Grain: The Hydraulic Mining Controversy in California's Sacramento Valley, A Chapter in the Decline of the Concept of Laissez Faire (Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clark Co., 1959). (10099.cc.11)

LAVENDER, David, Nothing Seemed Impossible: William C. Ralston and Early San Francisco (Palo Alto, CA: American West Publishing Co., 1975).

LEVY, Joanne, *They Saw the Elephant: Women in the California Gold Rush* (Hamden, CT: Archon Books, 1990). (YA.1991.b.8054)

LEWIS, Oscar, Sea Routes to the Gold Fields: The Migration by Water to California in 1849-1852 (New York, 1949).

LYMAN, George Dunlop, *Ralston's Ring; California Plunders the Comstock Lode* (New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1937). (10413.k.29)

MADSEN, Brigham D., *Gold Rush Sojourners in Great Salt Lake City*, 1849 and 1850 (Salt Lake City, UT: University of Utah Press, 1983). (X.800/41387)

MCKINSTRY, Bruce L. ed., *The California Gold Rush Overland Diary of Bryan N. McKinstry*, 1850-1852 (Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clark, 1975). (X.981/21790)

MEGQUIER, Mary Jane, *Apron Full of Gold. The Letters of Mary Jane Megquier from San Francisco*, 1849-1856 (San Marino, CA: Huntington Library, 1949). (W.P.9803/40)

The Miners' Own Book, Containing Correct Illustrations and Descriptions of the Various Modes of California Mining (San Francisco, 1858). (Reprint, R. W. Paul, ed., San Francisco, 1949). [Excellent contemporary handbook]

MORGAN, Dale L. ed., *The Overland Diary of James A. Pritchard from Kentucky to California in 1849* (Denver, CO: Fred A. Rosenstock, 1959). [Excellent edition] (10293.K.31)

MORGAN, Dale L. and Scobie, James R., eds., *Three Years in California, William Perkins' Journal of Life at Sonora, 1849-1852* (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press, 1964). (X.800/839)

MYERS, Sandra L. ed., *Ho for California! Women's Overland Diaries from the Huntington Library* (San Marino, CA: Huntington Library, 1980). (X.950/31623)

PAUL, Rodman W., California Gold. The Beginnings of Mining in the Far West (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1947). (10413.s.20)

-----, ed., *The California Gold Discovery; Sources, Documents, Accounts and Memoirs Relating to the Discovery of Gold at Sutter's Mill* (Georgetown, CA: Talisman Press, 1967). (X.802/12154)

POMFRET, John Edwin, *California Gold Rush Voyages* (San Marino, CA: Huntington Library, 1954).

POTTER, David M. ed., *Trail to California, The Overland Journal of Vincent Geiger and Wakerman Bryarly* (New Haven, CT: Yale Historical Publications, 1945). [Especially valuable edition] (Ac.2692.md./2)

ROYCE, Sarah E., *A Frontier Lady: Recollections of the Gold Rush and Early California*, Ralph H. Gabriel, editor (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1932). (010409.ee.40)

TAYLOR, Bayard, Eldorado, or Adventures in the Path of Empire: Comprising a Voyage to California, Via Panama; Life in San Francisco and Monterey, Pictures of the Gold Region..., 2 Vols. (London: Richard Bentley, 1850). (10410.b.29) 2nd ed., New York, 1850). (10413.bbb.23)

WHEAT, Carl I., Books of the California Gold Rush (San Francisco, CA: , 1949).

-----, The Maps of the California Gold Region, 1848-1857. A Biblio-cartography of an Important Decade. (San Francisco, CA: Grabhorn Press, 1942). (L.R.294.b.7)

-----, The Rocky-Bar Mining Company. An Episode of Early Western Promotion and Finance (San Francisco, CA: Roxburghe Club and Zamorano Club, 1934). (Cup.931/40)

WYMAN, Walker D., ed., *California Emigrant Letters* (New York, 1952). [Good collection].

ZOLLINGER, James Peter, *Sutter: The Man and His Empire* (New York: Oxford University Press 1939). (10888.e.8)

NEVADA

ANGEL, Myron, *History of Nevada, with Illustrations and Biographical Sketches of its Prominent Men and Pioneers* (1881; Berkeley, CA: Howell-North, Introduction by David F: Myrick, 1958). (X.802/3175)

BECKER, George F., *Geology of the Comstock Lode and the Washoe District* (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Geological Survey, *Monographs*, No.3, 1882). (A.S.209/5)

-----, *Atlas* folio (Maps 20.e.25)

BONWICK, James, *The Mormons and the Silver Mines* (London: Hodder and Stoughton, 1872). [Mormons in Nevada]. (10413.bb.10)

ELLIOTT, Russell R., *Nevada's Twentieth-Century Mining Boom: Tonopa, Goldfield, Ely* (Reno, NV: University of Nevada Press, 1966).

-----, History of Nevada (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press, 1973).

EMRICH, Duncan, ed., Comstock Bonanza (New York: , 1950).

FERGUSON, Henry G., *The Mining Districts of Nevada* (Reno, NV: University of Nevada, *Bulletin*, Vol. 38, No. 4, Geology and Mining Series No. 40, 1944).

GOLDMAN, Marion S., Gold Diggers and Silver Miners; Prostitution and Social Life on the Comstock Lode (Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press, 1982). (X.800/40044)

JACKSON, W. Turrentine, *Treasure Hill. Portrait of a Silver Mining Camp* (Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona Press, 1963). (X.800/1478)

LEWIS, Oscar, Silver Kings: The Lives and Times of Mackay, Fair, Flood and O'Brien, Lords of the Nevada Comstock Lode (New York: Knopf, 1947). (10889.de.17)

LILLARD, Richard G., Desert Challenge: An Interpretation of Nevada (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press, 1966). (X.708/4172)

LINCOLN, Francis C., *Mining Districts and Mineral Resources of Nevada* (Reno, NE: 1923).

LORD, Eliot, *Comstock Mining and Miners*, U.S. Geological Survey Monograph IV (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1883). (A.S.209/5) Reprinted with introduction by David F. Myrick, Berkeley, CA: Howell-North, 1959. (10110.f.29)

LYMAN, George D., *Ralston's Ring: California Plunders the Comstock Lode* (New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1937). (10413.k.29)

-----, *The Saga of the Comstock Lode. Boom Days in Virginia City* (New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1934). (2370.d.16)

MANTER, Ethel, Rocket of the Comstock: The Story of John William MacKay (Caldwell, ID: Caxton Printers, 1950).

MATHEWS, Mary M., *Ten Years in Nevada; or, Life on the Pacific Coast* (Buffalo, NY: Baker, Jones & Co., 1880). (1560/4679)

SHINN, Charles H., *The Story of the Mine as Illustrated by the Great Comstock Lode of Nevada* (New York: Appleton & Co., 1896). (7105.aa.11)

SMITH, Grant H., *The History of The Comstock Lode*, 1850-1920 (Reno, NV: University of Nevada, "Bulletin" 3, Vol. 37, No. 3, Geology and Mining Services, No. 37, 1943).

STEWART, Robert E. and Mary F. Stewart, *Adolph Sutro: A Biography* (Berkeley, CA: Howell-North, 1962). (X.800/1910)

STEWART, William M., *Reminiscences of Senator William M. Stewart of Nevada*, edited by George R. Blown (New York: Neale Publishing Co., 1908). (X.809/3318)

TILTON, Cecil G., *William Chapman Ralston, Courageous Builder* (Boston, MA: Christopher Publishing House, 1935). (010886.g.11)

TWAIN, Mark, [Samuel L. Clemens, pseud.], *Roughing It* (Hartford, CT: American Publications Co., 1873). (10410.s.5)

VAN TILBURG, Walter, ed., The Journals of Alfred Doter, 1849-1903 (Reno, NV: 1973).

WEISENBURGER, Francis P., *Idol of the West: The Fabulous Career of Rollin Mallory Daggett* (Syracuse, NY: Syracuse University Press, 1965). (X.900/2721)

WRIGHT, William, [Dan DeQuill, pseud.], *The Big Bonanza. An Authentic Account of the Discovery, History, and Working of the World-Renowned Comstock Lode of Nevada, Introduction by Oscar Lewis* (1889; New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1947). (7111.c.28)

YORK, Bernard, *The Geology of Nevada Ore Deposits* (Reno, NV: University of Nevada, *Bulletin*, Vol. 38, No.4, Geology and Mining Series, No.40, 1944).

COLORADO

ATHEARN, Robert G., *High Country Empire: The Plains and the Rockies* (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1960). (10152.p.21)

AXFORD, H William, Gilpin County Gold: Peter McFarlance, 1848-1929, Mining Entrepreneur in Central City, Colorado (Chicago, IL: Swallow Press, 1976).

BAIRNESS, Larry, Gold Camp: Alder Gulch and Virginia City (New York: Hastings House, 1962).

CONNER, Daniel E., A Confederate in the Colorado Gold Fields (Norman, OK: 1970).

DEMPSEY, Stanley and Fell, James E. Jr., *Mining the Summit: Colorado's Ten Mile District, 1860-1960* (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1986). (YC.1988.b.8619)

DORSET, Phyllis Flanders, *The New Eldorado: The Story of Colorado's Gold and Silver Rushes* (New York: Macmillan, 1970).

DORSETT, Lyle W., *The Queen City: A History of Denver* (Boulder, Co: Pruett, 1977). (X.809/28404)

FATOUT, Paul, *Meadow Lake: Gold Town* (Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press, 1969). (X.809/7707)

FOSSETT, Frank, *Colorado, its Gold and Silver Mines, Farms and Stock Ranges, and Health and Pleasure Resorts. Tourist's Guide to the Rocky Mountains* (1876; New York: C.G. Crawford, 2nd ed., 1880). (10410.p.9) [1876 Denver edition] (10411.df.3)

FRITZ, Percy S., *Colorado, the Centennial State* (New York: Prentice-Hall, 1941). (10413.p.29)

GANDY, Lewis C. *The Tabors. A Footnote of Western History* [A biography of Horace A. Tabor] (New York: Press of the Pioneers, 1934). (010886.eee.47)

GRISWOLD, Don L. and Jean Harvey Griswold, *The Carbonate Camp Called Leadville* (Denver, CO: University of Denver Press, 1951).

GROWER, Calvin W., "Aids to Prospective Prospectors: Guidebooks and Letters from Kansas Territory, 1858-1860," *Kansas Historical Quarterly* 43 (Spring 1977): (Ac.8531)

-----, "Gold Fever in Kansas Territory: Migration to the Pike's Peak Gold Fields, 1858-1860," *Kansas Historical Quarterly* 39 (Spring 1973): . (Ac.8531)

HAFEN, LeRoy, ed., *Colorado and Its People* (New York: Levis Historical Publishers, 1948). (Mic.A.11854-55)

-----, ed., *Colorado: The Story of a Western Commonwealth* (Denver, O: Peerless Publishing Co., 1933). (9616.f.5)

-----, ed., *Colorado Gold Rush; Contemporary Letters and Reports, 1858-1859* (Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clark, 1941). (9617.bb.5/10)

-----, ed., Pike's Peak Gold Rush Guidebooks of 1859. By Luke Tierney, William B. Parsons, and Summaries of the Other Fifteen (Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clark, 1941). (9617.bb.5/9)

-----, ed., Overland Routes to the Gold Fields, 1859, From Contemporary Diaries (Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clark, 1942). (9617.bb.5/11)

HENDERSON, Charles W., Mining in Colorado. A History of Discovery, Development and Production (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Geological Survey, "Professional Paper" No. 138, 1926). (A.S.209/6)

HOLLISTER, Ovando J., The Mines of Colorado (Springfield, MA: 1867). (10410.bb.19)

KING, Joseph E., A Mine to Make a Mine: Financing the Colorado Mining Industry, 1859-1902 (College Station, TX: Texas A&M University Press, 1977). (X.320/11185 Woolwich)

LECOMPTE, Janet, Pueblo, Hardscrabble, Greenhorn: The Upper Arkansas, 1832-1856 (Norman, OK: 1978).

LEE, Wellis Thomas, *Coal Fields of Grand Mesa and West Elk Mountains, Colorado* (Washington, D.C.: U.S.A. Geological Survey, *Bulletin*, No. 510, 1912). (A.S.212/2)

MARSHALL, Thomas M., "The Miners' Laws of Colorado," *American Historical Review* 25 (April 1920):426-439. (P.P.3437.baa)

PARKER, Watson, *Deadwood: The Golden Years* (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press, 1981). (X.809/49898)

PAUL, Rodman W., "Colorado as a Pioneer of Science in the Mining West," *Mississippi Valley Historical Review* 47 (June 1960): . (Ac.8408/2)2Burch

SCAMEHORN, H. Lee, *Pioneer Steelmaker in the West: The Colorado Fuel and Iron Company*, 1872-1903 (Boulder, Co: Pruett Publishing Co., 1976). (X.525/2975)

SMILEY, Jerome C., *History of Denver, With Outlines of the Earlier History of the Rocky Mountain Country* (Denver, CO: J.H. Williamson, 1903). (Mic.A.8965) SMITH, Duane A., A Land Alone: Colorado's Western Slope with Duane Vandenbusche (Boulder, CO: Pruett, 1981). X.809/54074

-----, *The Birth of Colorado: A Civil War Perspective* (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1989). YC.1989.a.10952

-----, *Colorado Mining: A Photographic History* (Albuquerque, NM: University of New Mexico Press 1977). (X.802/4870)

-----, *Horace Tabor: His Life and the Legend* (Boulder, CO: Colorado Associated University Press, 1973).

-----, Rocky Mountain Boom Town: A History of Durango (Albuquerque, NM: 1980).

-----, *Rocky Mountain West: Colorado, Wyoming and Montana, 1859-1915* (Albuquerque, NM: University of New Mexico Press, 1992). (YA.1993.b.7200)

-----, Silver Saga: The Story of Caribou, Colorado (Boulder, CO: , 1974).

SPENCER, Elma D. R., *Green Russell and Gold.* . . . (Austin, TX: University of Texas Press, 1966). (X.800/2150)

SPRAGUE, Marshall, *Money Mountain: The Story of Cripple Creek Gold* (1953; Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press, 1979). (X.708/222498)

VILLARD, Henry, *The Past and Present of the Pike's Peak Gold Regions*, edited by LeRoy R. Hafen (1860; Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1932). (10413.n.14/2)

WATERS, Frank, Midas of the Rockies: The Story of Stratton and Cripple Creek (New York: Covici Friede, 1937).

WILCOX, Virginia L., Colorado: A Selected Bibliography of Its Literature, 1858-1952 (Denver, CO: Sage Books, 1954). (2725.c.864)

WOLLE, Muriel S., Stampede to Timberline: The Ghost Towns and Mining Camps of Colorado (1949; Denver, CO: Sage Books, 1962). (X.802/830)

NORTHWEST

ARRINGTON, Leonard J., *Great Basin Kingdom: An Economic History of the Latter-day Saints, 1830-1900* (Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1958). (X.520/8264.(19))

ARRINGTON, Leonard J and Gary B. Hansen, "*The Richest Hole on Earth*": A History of the Bingham Copper Mine (Logan, UT: Utah State University Press, 1963).

BANCROFT, Hubert Howe, *History of Washington, Idaho, and Montana, 1845-1889* (San Francisco, CA: A.L. Bancroft & Co., 1890). (012296.cc.d)

BEAL, Merrill and Merle W. Wells, *History of Idaho*, 3 Vols. (New York: , 1959).

BETHUNE, George A., *Mines and Minerals of Washington: Annual Report of First State Geologist* (Olympia, WA, 1891).

BRIGGS, Harold E., Frontiers of the Northwest: A History of the Upper Missouri Valley (New York: D. Appleton-Century, 1940). (10413.p.18)

BURCH, Albert, "Development of Metal Mining in Oregon," *Oregon Historical Quarterly* 43 (June 1941):105-128. (Ac.8361/3 and Mic.B.602/20)

BURLINGAME, Merrill G., *The Montana Frontier* (Helena, MT: State Publishing Co., 1942). (Mic.A.8322)

BURLINGAME, Merrill G. and K. Ross Toole, A History of Montana (Helena, MT: 1942).

BUTLER, Bert S., Gerald F. Loughlin and Victor C. Heikes, et al. *The Ore Deposits of Utah* (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Geological Survey, "Professional Paper," No. 111, 1920). (A.S.209/6)

CASH, Joseph H., *Working the Homestake* (Ames, IA: Iowa State University Press, 1973).

FAHEY, John, *The Ballyhoo Bonanza: Charles Sweeney and the Idaho Mines* (Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 1971). (X.320/3281)

FELL, James E. Jr., *Ores to Metals: The Rocky Mountain Smelting Industry* (Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press, 1979). (X.629/14920 Woolwich)

GLASSCOCK, Carl B., *The War of the Copper Kings, Builders of Butte and Wolves of Wall Street* (New York: Bobbs-Merrill, 1935). (8230.eee.50)

HAGEDORN, Hermann, *The Magnate: William Boyce Thompson and His Time* (New York: Reynal and Hitchcock, 1935). (010885.f.33)

HOWARD, Joseph K., *Montana: High, Wide, and Handsome* (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1944). (10411.1.1)

HUNTTING, Marshall T., *Gold in Washington* (Olympia, WA: Washington State Division of Mines and Geology, *Bulletin* No. 42, 1955).

JOHNSON, Dorothy M., *The Bloody Bozeman* (New York: , 1971).

JOHNSON, Dorothy O. and Charles M. Gates, *Empire of the Columbia: A History of the Pacific Northwest* (New York: Harper & Bros., 1957). (9774.t.21)

MCNEILIS, Sarah, *Copper King at War: The Biography of F. Augustus Heinze* (Missoula, MT: University of Montana Press, 1968).

MADSEN, Betty M. and Brigham D. *Madsen, North to Montana: Jehus, Bullwhackers, and Mule Skinners on the Montana Trail* (Salt Lake City, UT: University of Utah Press, 1980). (YA.1988.b.5523)

MALONE, Michael P., *The Battle for Butte: Mining and Politics on the Northern Frontier*, 1864-1906 (Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 1981). (YA.1986.b.3185)

MURDOCK, Angus, Boom Copper (New York: , 1943).

NUNIS, Doyce B. Jr., *The Golden Frontier, The Recollections of Herman Francis Reinhart,* 1851-1869 (Austin, TX: University of Texas Press, 1962). (10609.m.19)

The Oregonian's Handbook of the Pacific Northwest (Portland, OR: 1894).

ORMSBY, Margaret A., *British Columbia: A History* (Toronto, Canada: Macmillan, 1958). [Fraser River rush]. (09555.e.18)

PHILLIPS, Paul C. ed., Forty Years on the Frontier as Seen in the Journals and Reminiscences of Granville Stuart, 2 Vols. (Cleveland, Ohio: Arthur H. Clark Co., 1925). (010884.f.24)

POMEROY, Earl, *The Pacific Slope: A History of California, Oregon, Washington, Idaho, Utah and Nevada* (1965; Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press, 1991). (YC.1993.a.2241)

RAYMER, Robert G., A History of Copper Mining in Montana Chicago, IL: , 1930).

ROBERTSON, Frank C. and Beth Kay Harris, *Boom Towns of the Great Basin* (Denver, CO: 1962).

SAGE, Walter N., *Sir James Douglas and British Columbia* (Toronto, Canada: University of Toronto Studies, 1930). (Ac.2702/2.(2))

SPENCE, Clark G., "British Investment and Oregon Mining, 1860-1900," *Oregon Historical Quarterly* 58 (June 1957):101-112. (Ac.8361/3 and Mic.B.602/20)

STENHOUSE, T.B.H., *The Rocky Mountain Saints: A Full and Complete History of the Mormons, . .Including. . .the Development of the Great Mineral Wealth of the Territory* (New York: D. Appleton & Co., 1873). [Especially Chap. 57, "The Mines of Utah."] (10413.i.13)

STEWART, Robert E. and Mary F., *Adolph Sutro: A Biography* (Berkeley, CA: Howell-North, 1962). (X.800/1910)

TEXLER, H.A., Flour and Wheat in the Montana Gold Camps, 1862-1870 (Missoula, MT, 1918).

TOOLE, K. Ross, *Montana: An Uncommon Land* (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1959).

-----, *Twentieth-Century Montana. A State of Extremes* (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1972). (X.809/17943)

TYLER, S. Lyman, ed., *The Montana Gold Rush Diary of Kate Dunlop* (Salt Lake City, UT: University of Utah Press, 1969).

WEED, Walter H., *Geology and Ore Deposits of the Battle District, Montana* (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Geological Survey, "Professional Paper," No. 74, 1912). (A.S.209/6)

WELLS, Merle W., *Rush to Idaho* (Moscow, ID: Idaho Bureau of Mines and Geology, "Bulletin," No. 19, n.d.).

-----, *Gold Camps and Silver Cities* (Moscow, ID: Idaho Bureau of Mines and Geology, "Bulletin," No. 22, 1963).

WHITE, Helen M., ed., *Ho! For the Gold Fields. Northern Overland Wagon Trains of the 1860s* (St. Paul, MI: Minnesota Historical Society, 1966). (YA.1968.b.1617)

WINTHER, Oscar O., *The Great Northwest, A History* (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1949). (10414.e.15)

-----, *The Old Oregon Country. A History of Frontier Trade Transportation and Travel* (Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, 1950). (10414.cc.9)

SOUTHWEST

ALTSCHULER, Constance W., ed., *Latest From Arizona! The Hesperian Letters*, 1859-1861 (Tucson, AZ, 1969). [Correspondence of Thomas M. Turner, a journalist].

BURNSIDE, C. Wayne, *Metallogenic Provinces of the Southwestern United States and Northern Mexico* (Socorro, New Mexico: State Bureau of Mines and Mineral Resources, New Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology, "Bulletin" No. 65, 1959).

CONNER, David E., Joseph Reddeford Walter and the Arizona Adventure, edited by Donald J. Berthroug and Odessa Davenport (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1956). (W.P.16860/22)

ELSING, Morris J. and Robert E.S. Heineman, *Arizona Metal Production* (Tucson, AZ: Arizona Bureau of Mines, Economic Series, No. 19, University of Arizona, "Bulletin," VII, No. 2, 1936).

Harrington's Director of the City of Austin. . . for 1866. With a History and Statistical Review of the City of Austin and the Reece River Mining Region, by M[yron] Angel (Austin, TX, 1866). (P.P.2535.lu)

History of Arizona Territory, Showing its Resources and Advantages; With Illustrations Descriptive of its Scenery, Residences, Farms, Mines, Mills (San Francisco, CA: 1884).

JONES, Fayette A., New Mexico Mines and Minerals. . . . Being an Epitome of the Early Mining History and Resources of New Mexican Mines (Santa Fe, NM: New Mexican Printing Co., 1904). (Pressmark Pending)

LINDGREN, Waldemar, Louis C. Graton and Charles H. Gordon, *The Ore Deposits of New Mexico* (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Geological Survey, "Professional Paper," No. 68, 1910). (A.S.209/6)

LOCKWOOD, Frank C., Pioneer Days in Arizona from the Spanish Occupation to Statehood (New York: Macmillan, 1932). (010410.eee.10)

MELZER, Richard, Madrid Revisited: Life and Labour in a New Mexican Mining Camp in the Years of the Great Depression (Santa Fe, MN: The Lightening Tree, 1976). (YA.1987.b.1079)

MOWRY, Sylvester, *Arizona and Sonora: The Geography History, and Resources of the Silver Region of North America,* 3rd ed., rev. (New York: American Geographical and Statistical Society, 1864). (10412.bbb.17)

MYERS, John M., *The Last Chance; Tombstone's Early Years* (New York: E.P. Dutton, 1950). (10414.g.10)

NORTHROP, Stuart A., *Minerals of New Mexico*, Rev. ed. (Albuquerque, NM: University of New Mexico Press, 1959). (7113.c.4)

OWEN, Richard E. and Edward T. Cox, *Report on the Mines of New Mexico* (Washington, D.C.: J.S. Watts, 1885). (07109.e.20.(1))

PARKER, Morris B., Morris B. Parker's White Oaks: Life in a New Mexican Gold Camp, 1880-1900, edited by Charles L. Sonnichsen (Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona Press, 1971). (X.700/13319)

SONNICHSEN, Charles L., Colonel Green and the Copper Skyrocket (Tucson, AZ: 1974).

WAGONER, Jay J., Early Arizona: Prehistory to Civil War (Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona Press, 1975). (X.809/28762)

-----, *Arizona Territory*, 1863-1912, *A Political History* (Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona Press, 1970). (X.800/6060)

WYLLYS, Rufus K., Arizona: The History of a Frontier State (Phoenix, AZ: Hobson & Herr, 1950). (X.809/2733)

YOUNG, Otis E., How They Dug the Gold: An Informal History of Frontier Prospecting, *Placering, Lode Mining, and Milling in Arizona and the Southwest* (Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona Press, 1967).

BLACK HILLS

BENNETT, Estelline, *Old Deadwood Days* (New York: J.H. Sears, 1928). (010884.de.42)

BROWN, Jesse and A.M. Willard, *The Black Hills Trails; A History of the Struggles of the Pioneers in the Winning of the Black Hills*, edited by John T. Milek (Rapid City, SD: 1924).

CONNOLLY, Joseph P. and Cleophas C. O'Harra, *The Mineral Wealth of the Black Hills* (Rapid City, SD: South Dakota School of Mines, "Bulletin," No. 16, 1929). (Ac. 3189)

FIELDER, Mildred, ed., *Lawrence County, for the Dakota Territory Centennial* (Lead, SD: 1960).

FRIGGENS, Paul, Gold and Grass: The Black Hills Story (Boulder, CO: Pruett Publishing, 1983).

HOFMAN, Heinrich Oscar, *Gold Milling in the Black Hills* (Chicago, IL, 1893?). (07109.e.20.(6))

HUGHES, Richard B., *Pioneer Years in the Black Hills*, edited by Agnes W. Spring (Glendale, CA: Arthur H. Clark Co., 1957). (09555.n.1/6)

LAMAR, Howard R., *Dakota Territory*, 1861-1889: A Study of Frontier Politics (New Haven, CT: Yale Historical Publications, Yale University Press, 1956). (Ac.2692.md/3)

JACKSON, Donald, *Custer's Gold: The Muted States Cavalry Expedition of 1874* (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 1966). (Ac.2692.ma/32)

KRAUS, Herbert and Gary D. Olson, eds., *Prelude to Glory* (Sioux Falls, SD: , 1974).

PARKER, Watson, *Gold in The Black Hills* (Norman, OK: University of Oklahoma Press, 1966). (X.800/3903)

-----, "The Majors and the Miners: The Role of the U.S. Army in the Black Hills Gold Rush," *Journal of the West* 11 (January 1972):99-113. (P.701/1257)

TALLENT, Annie D., The Black Hills; or, the Last Hunting Ground of the Dakotahs: A Complete History of the Black Hills of Dakota from Their First Invasion in 1874 to the Present... (St Louis, MO: 1899).

ALASKA

ADNEY, Tappan, *The Klondike Stampede.* . . . (New York: Harper & Bros., 1900). (010470.de.9)

BANCROFT, Hubert Howe, *History of Alaska* [*Works*, Vol. 33] (San Francisco, CA: A.L. Bancroft & Co., 1886). (012296.cc&d)

BOSWELL, John C., *History of Alaskan Operations of the United States Smelting, Refining and Mining Company* (Fairbanks, AK: University of Alaska, 1979).

BRONSON, William (with Richard Reinhardt), *The Last Great Adventure: The Story of the Klondike Gold Rush and the Opening of Alaska* (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1977). (X.802/4864)

BURTON, Pierre, *The Klondike Fever: The Life and Death of the Last Great Gold Rush* (New York: Knopf, 1958).

CLIFFORD, Howard, The Skagway Story, A History of Alaska's Most Famous Gold Rush Town and Some of the People Who Made That History (Anchorage, AK: Alaskan Northwest Publishing, 1978). (X.708/22320)

COATES, Peter, *The Trans-Alaska Pipeline Controversy: Technology, Conservation and the Frontier* (Bethlehem, PA: Lehigh University Press, 1991). (YA.1993.b.9006)

CUNYNGHAME, Francis J. de M., Lost Trail. The Story of Klondike Gold and the Man Who Fought for Control [re: A.N.C. Treadgold] (London: Faber & Faber, 1953). (10414.b.22)

DAWSON, George M., Extracts From the Report on an Exploration Made in 1887 in the Yukon District, N.W.T. . . . [From Frederick M. Timmer, The Yukon Territory] (Montreal, Canada: 1898). (10413.cc.25)

DE ARMOND, R. H., *The Founding of Juneau* (Juneau, AK: Gastineau Channel Centennial Association, 1967).

FRENCH, Leigh Hill, Seward's Land of Gold: Five Seasons Experience With the Gold Seeks in Northwestern Alaska (New York: Montross, Clarke & Emmons, [1905?]). (Mic.A.11807)

HAYNE, M.H.E., and H. West Taylor, *Pioneers of the Klondike: Being An Account of Two Years Police Service on the Yukon* (London: Sampson Low & Co., 1897). (10460.b.43)

HASKELL, William B., *Two Years in the Klondike and Alaskan Goldfields...* (Hartford, CT: Hartford Publishing Co., 1898). (010470.de.2)

HEILPRIN, Angelo, *Alaska and the Klondike*. *A Journey to the New Eldorado...* (London: C.A. Pearson, 1899). (10460.cc.12)

HUNT, William R., North of 53°: The Wild Days of the Alaska-Yukon Mining Frontier, 1870-1914 (New York: Macmillan, 1974).

-----, Alaska: A Bicentennial History (New York: Norton, 1976). (X.809/58099)

INNIS, Harold A., Settlement and The Mining Frontier [part of Vol. 9 of Canadian Frontiers of Settlement] (Toronto, Canada: Macmillan, 1936). (010005.h.29/9)

KIRK, Robert C., *Twelve Months in the Klondike.* . . . (London: W. Heinemann, 1899). (10460.bbb.24)

LYNCH, Jeremiah, *Three Years in the Klondike* (London: Edward Arnold, 1904). (010470.e.15)

MAYER, Melanie J., *Klondike Women: True Tales of the 1897-98 Gold Rush* (Chicago, IL: Swallow Press, 1989). (YC.1993.b.3187)

McLAIN, J.S., Alaska and The Klondike (New York, 1905).

RICKARD, Thomas A., *Through the Yukon and Alaska* (San Francisco, CA: Mining and Scientific Press, 1909). (10470.p.4)

SALIN, Edgar, Die Wirtschaftliche Entwicklung von Alaska un Yukon Territory... (Tubinen: 1914). (P.P.1423.haa)

SPUDE, Robert L., comp., *Chilkoot Trail* [Historic photographs] (Fairbanks, AK: University of Alaska, 1980).

TREADGOLD, Arthur N.C., Report on the Goldfields of the Klondike. . . Illustrated with Maps (Toronto, Canada: G.N. Morang & Co., 1899). (07108.i.11)

WHARTON, David B., *The Alaska Gold Rush* (Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press, 1973). (X.320/3680)

COMPARATIVE MINING FRONTIERS (Selected References)

a. General Works

LAVENDER, David S., *The Story of Cypress Mines Corporation* (San Marino, CA: Huntington Library, 1962). (W.P.9803/52)

MORRELL, William P., *The Gold Rushes*, 2nd ed., (London: Adam and Charles Black, 1968). (W.P.5063/19)

WHITNEY, Josiah D., *The Metallic Wealth of the United States Described and Compared With That of Other Countries* (Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott, Grambo & Co., 1854). (7106.h.2)

b. Australia/New Zealand

ADCOCK, W.E., The Gold Rushes of the Fifties (Melbourne, Australia: 1912).

ALLEN, Charles Harris, A Visit to Queensland and Her Goldfields (London: Chapman and Hall, 1870). (10491.bb.19)

BLAINEY, Geoffrey, *The Rush That Never Ended*, A History of Australian Mining (1963; Calton, Australia: Melbourne University Press, 2nd ed., 1969). [includes bibliography] (X.329/4243)

CALVERT, Albert F., *The Coolgardie Goldfield: Western Australia*, 2 Vols. (London: Simpkin, Marshall & Co., 1894). (7106.e.11) 2nd ed., 2 Vols. (London: Dean & Son, 1901). (Maps Ref. M.5)

-----, West Australian Mining Investors' Handbook With Coloured Map of Western Australia and Plans of the Various Goldfields (London: Simpkin, Marshall & Co., 1894). (08226.f.27)

-----, Western Australia and Its Gold Fields. . . With Government Map London: G. Philip & Son., 1893). (10491.cc.10)

DAVISON, Simpson, *The Discovery and Geognosy of Gold Deposits in Australia; With Comparison and Accounts of the Gold Regions in California, Russia, India, Brazil.* . . . (London: Green, Longman, & Roberts, 1860). (7105.cc.11) [2nd ed., 1861] (7109.f.37)

ELMSLIE, Christopher T., Mining in Queensland. A Descriptive Account of the Principal Gold Mines in Queensland with Survey Plans of the Various Goldfields (London: Henry Adlard, 1902). (8245.f.44)

ERSKINE, John E., *Short Account of Late Discoveries of Gold in New South Wales* (London: 1851) (7107.d.14) 2nd ed. (London, 1852) [with map]. (7104.b.20)

HARGRAVES, Edward Hammond, *Australia and the Gold Fields*. . . . (London: 1855). (10491.c.6)

HOWITT, William, Land, Labour and God; or Two Years in Victoria. . ., 2 Vols. (London: 1855). (10491.c.9) 2nd ed. (London, 1858). (10491.c.33)

LEE, W. The Queensland Goldfields, 1858-1899 (Bisbane, Australia: 1899).

MAY, Philip R., *Hokitika*. *Goldfields Capital* (Christchurch, New Zealand: Pegasus Press, 1964). (X.809/3936)

-----, *The West Coast Gold Rushes*, 2nd rev. ed., (Christchurch, New Zealand: Pegasus Press, 1967). (X.809/5229)

PATTERSON, J.A., The Goldfields of Victoria in 1862

POTTS, Eli Daniel and Annette Potts, *Young America and Australian Gold: Americans and the Gold Rush of the 1850s* (St. Lucia, Australia: University of Queensland Press, 1974). (YA.1986.a.8077)

PYKE, Vincent, *History of the Early Gold Discoveries in Otago* (Dunedin, New Zealand: Otago Daily Times & Witness Newspapers Co., 1962). (X.809/851)

READ, C. Rudston, What I Heard, Saw and Did at the Australian Gold Fields (London: 1853). (10491.e.21)

SALMON, John H. M., *History of Gold Mining in New Zealand* (Wellington, : 1963)

SERLE, Geoffrey, *The Golden Age. A History of the Colony of Victoria*, 1851-1861 (Melbourne, Australia: University Press, 1963). (9340.y.7)

SMYTH, Robert B., *Goldfields and Mineral Districts of Victoria* (Melbourne, Australia: John Ferres, 1869). (7104.e.23)

WESTGARTH, William, The Colony of Victoria: Its History, Commerce and Gold Mining.... (London: 1864). (10492.g.20)

-----, Victoria and the Australian Gold Mines in 1857 (London: 1857). (10492.c)

------, Victoria, . . or Port Philip District of New South Wales; Being an Historical and Descriptive Account of the Colony and its Gold Mines. . . . (Edinburgh, Scotland, 1853). (10491.e.22)

WOODWARD, Harry P., *Mining Handbook to the Colony of Western Australia* (Perth, Australia: R. Pether, 1894). (07108.g.17)

c. South America and Mexico

BERNSTEIN, Marvin D., *The Mexican Mining Industry*, 1890-1950: A Study in the Interaction of Politics, Economics, and Technology (Albany, NY: State University of New York Press, 1965). (X.510/1939)

CALOGERAS, J. Pandia, *As Mina do Brasil e Sua Legislacao* (Rio de Janeiro: 1904). (07107.k)

CULVER, William W. and Thomas C., Greaves, eds., *Miners and Mining in the Americas* (Manchester, England: University of Manchester Press, 1985) (X.622/26096)

Latin American Mining Economics: Brazil, Chile, Mexico, Peru (London: Metals and Minerals Publications, 1986). (ZC.9.b.1262)

PLETCHER, David M., Rails, Mines, and Progress: Seven American Promoters in Mexico, 1867-1911 (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 1958). (08232.g.10)

TODD, Arthur Cecil, *The Search for Silver: Cornish Miners in Mexico* (Padstow, : Lodenek Press, 1977). (X.329/11391 Woolwich)

d. Russia

BLANCHARD, Ian, Russia's "Age of Silver": Precious-Metal Production and Economic Growth in the Eighteenth Century (London: Routledge, 1989). YC.1989.b.4999)

SEMEVSKY, Vasily I., Labourers in the Siberian Gold Mining Industry (St. Petersburg, Russia: 1898). (07108.k.24)

e. South Africa

BAINES, Thomas, *The Gold Regions of South East Africa.* . . . (London: Edward Stanford, 1877). (010096.f.40)

-----, *The Northern Goldfields Diaries of Thomas Baines*. . . 1869-1872, edited by J.P.R. Wallis, 3 Vols. (London: Chatto & Windus, 1946). (X.802/3167)

CORNELL, Fred C., [1867-1921], *The Glamour of Prospecting: Wanderings of a South African Prospector in Search of Copper, Gold, Emeralds and Diamonds* (Cape Town, South Africa: David Philip, 1986). (YK.1987.a.5078)

GREGORY, Sir Theodore E., Ernest Oppenheimer and the Economic Development of Southern Africa (Cape Town, Africa: Oxford University Press, 1962). (10636.fff.35)

JEEVES, Alan, Migrant Labour in South Africa's Mining Economy: The Struggle for the Gold Mines' Labour Supply, 1890-1920 (Johannesburg, South Africa: Witwaterstand University Press, 1985). (YA.1988.a.21088)

JOHNSON, Paul, *Consolidated Gold Fields, A Centenary Portrait* (London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1987). (YC.1987.b.6722)

LETCHER, Owen, *The Gold Mines of Southern Africa. The History, Technology, and Statistics of the Gold Industry.* . . . (Johannesburg & London: Waterlow and Sons, 1936). (07109.B.41)

MACNAB, Roy, *Gold, Their Touchstone: Gold Fields of South Africa, 1887-1987* (Johannnesburg, South Africa: Jonathan Ball, 1987). (YL.1988.b.311)

RICHARDSON, Peters, *Chinese Mine Labour in the Transvaal* (London: Macmillan, 1982). (X.529/52665)

TUCKER, Joseph, Letters of a South African Miner, 1898-1904, Written by Joseph Tucker to his Son Joseph Wherry Tucker [edited by his grandson, Norman E. Hannan] (Romford, : N.E. Hanna, 1981). (X.950/13061)

WILLIAMS, Gardner F., *The Diamond Mines of South Africa: Some Account of Their Rise and Development*, 2 Vols. (New York: B.F. Buck & Co., 1902, 1906). Vol. 1, 1902 (7109.cc.2) Vol. 2, 1906 (07109.l.11)

YUDELMAN, David, The Emergence of Modern South Africa: State, Capital, and the Incorporation of Organized Labor on the South African Gold Fields, 1902-1939 (Westport, CT: Greenwood Press, 1983). (X.529/58824)

f. India

BALL, Valentine, *The Diamonds, Coal and Gold of India, Their Mode of Occurrence and Distribution* (London: Trubner, 1881). (T.38701 IOIC)

NANDA, Rajni, *The Early History of Gold in India* (New Delhi: Munshiram Manoharlal Publishers, 1992). (Pressmark Pending)

SIMMONS, Colin, The Creation and Organization of a Proletarian Mining Labour Force in India, The Case of the Kolar Gold Fields, 1883-1955 (Salford, : University of Salford, 1986). (X.0525/317[86-8])

-----, The Economic Growth of the Kolar Gold Fields, 1881-ca. 1955: Introduction, Discovery and Source Materials (Salford, : Department of Economics, University of Salford, 1985). (ORW.1986.a.56 OIOC)